ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

DEC 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case Number: 2014-000338

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Case Number 2011-CP-10-4348

Thomas Easterling,.....Appellant,

v.

Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MCLEOD LAW GROUP, LLC
D. Ellis Roberts, SC Bar No. 80482
W. Mullins McLeod, Jr., SC Bar No. 14148
3 Morris Street, Suite A
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
Post Office Box 21624
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 277-6655 telephone
(843) 277-6660 facsimile

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court commit reversible error for failing to recognize the existence of genuine issues of material fact?
 - a. Should summary judgment be reversed on grounds that Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC as business entities had actual notice, and therefore, owed a legal duty of care to protect an invitee against foreseeable harm?
 - b. Should summary judgment be reversed on grounds that Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC as business entities had prior notice, and therefore, owed a legal duty of care to protect an invitee against foreseeable harm?
 - c. Did Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC create an unreasonable and dangerous condition on its premises and owe an invitee a legal duty to protect him from harm?
2. Should summary judgment be reversed on grounds that Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC breached its duty of care when it deviated from its own internal policies?
3. Did the circuit court commit reversible error failing to specifically rule on any of Thomas Easterling's arguments when it granted Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC's motion for summary judgment by the issuance of Form 4 Orders and denied Mr. Easterling's Rule 59 motion, and did the circuit court abuse its discretion when it failed to vacate the entry of summary judgment in response to the Rule 59 motion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2011, Plaintiff-Appellant Thomas Easterling filed a Complaint (R. pp. 9-15) against Defendants-Respondents Burger King Corporation and Capital Investment Group, LLC [hereinafter referred to collectively as “Burger King”] in the court of Common Pleas asserting negligence causes of action for losses and damages sustained by Mr. Easterling during a violent attack that occurred at the Burger King restaurant located at 945 Folly Road in Charleston County on July 8, 2008.

The Defendants all filed Answers (R. pp. 16-20) denying liability. Following the completion of discovery, Burger King filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 21-31) with the circuit court, submitting there was no genuine issue as to any material fact and Burger King had no duty to protect invitees from criminal acts on their premises.

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion on Monday, November 18, 2013. Plaintiff submitted his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 32-157) to the circuit court during the hearing. After oral arguments, the circuit court convened, taking the motion under advisement and informed counsel to submit any proposed orders by 5:00 PM on Friday, November 22, 2013, and instructed the parties that a ruling would be forthcoming in ten (10) days following the hearing. Plaintiff timely submitted his Proposed Order (R. pp. 158-161). Defendants elected not to submit a proposed order to the circuit court.

However, before the deadline for the submission of proposed orders and before Plaintiff submitted his proposed order, the circuit court signed a Form 4 Order (R. pp. 3-4) granting Defendant’s Motion on November 19, 2013. However, Plaintiff’s counsel received a Form 4 Order (R. pp. 3-4) granting the Defendants’ 12(b)(6) “Motion to

Dismiss” and not an order regarding the motion for summary judgment. Incredibly, the circuit court’s Form 4 Order (R. pp. 3-4) failed to rule on the Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, as well as the specific issues raised by the Plaintiff in opposition to summary judgment, including the duty of care Burger King owed the Plaintiff.

Upon receipt of the Form 4 Order (R. pp. 3-4) granting Defendants’ “Motion to Dismiss,” Plaintiff immediately sought clarification from the circuit court, as there was no “Motion to Dismiss” before the circuit court and the ruling was made prior to the submission of the requested proposed orders on the appropriateness of summary judgment. In response to Plaintiff’s inquiries, the circuit court issued a subsequent Form 4 Order (R. pp. 5-6) this time granting summary judgment in favor of the Defendants that was received by Plaintiff on December 16, 2013. Again, the circuit court’s form order did not address any of Plaintiff’s arguments properly presented before the court.

On December 13, 2013 the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Reconsideration (R. pp. 162-432) of the summary judgment pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Specifically, the Plaintiff asked the circuit court to reconsider its judgment on the grounds that Plaintiff believed the circuit court had misunderstood, failed to fully consider, and failed to rule on summary judgment issues and arguments, and the Plaintiff respectfully requested reconsideration by the circuit court. Plaintiff further argued that the circuit court’s Order rendered Plaintiff unable to address the circuit court’s ruling on appeal when there is no record as to how the circuit court arrived at its decision or how it ruled on the argument and issues raised by the Plaintiff in his Motion for Reconsideration (R. pp. 162-432). Plaintiff’s motion was denied on January 15, 2014 and Plaintiff received notice

of such on January 21, 2014 by way of another Form 4 Order (R. pp. 7-8) from the circuit court, again without explanation or addressing any issues raised by the parties.

On January 21, 2014 the Plaintiff served the Notice of Appeal on the Defendants and filed its Notice of Appeal on February 21, 2014, appealing the orders granting summary judgment for Burger King and denying Plaintiff's Rule 59 motion. Plaintiff received the Trial Transcript of the Hearing (R. pp. 433-450) on May 23, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case stems from an attack on the Plaintiff-Appellant Thomas Easterling which occurred on July 8, 2008, at the Burger King restaurant located on Folly Road in Charleston, South Carolina. En route home from work at approximately 10:00 PM, Mr. Easterling stopped at Burger King to purchase dinner. He entered the drive-thru lane at Burger King and shortly thereafter was rear-ended by Gary N. Eastwood (the attacker) who was driving a truck positioned behind Mr. Easterling in the drive-thru lane. "Before I [Easterling] placed an order is where he [Eastwood] struck my car for the first time." (R. p. 460, lines 35:9-11, Easterling Deposition 35:9-11). Mr. Easterling did not engage Eastwood after the first initial contact. "At that point, I thought maybe it was an accident...I just wanted to get my food and go home." (R. p. 460, lines 36:3-6, Easterling Deposition 36:3-6). Mr. Easterling thereafter placed his order at the drive-thru speaker menu and entered the drive-thru lane. Once in the drive-thru lane, Mr. Easterling was blocked in by all sides, with a car immediately in front of him, Eastwood's truck behind him, the Burger King building on his left and a curb with a drop-off ditch on his right.

After entering the drive-thru lane, Eastwood became belligerent and created a scene by "pushing the accelerator but keeping his foot on the brake, so the tires were spinning.

It was making loud screeching noises, and smoke was going everywhere.” (R. p. 460, lines 37:2-5, Easterling Deposition 37:2-5). As Mr. Easterling and Eastwood moved up in the drive-thru lane, Eastwood began to spin his tires, and, again, struck Mr. Easterling’s car from behind with his truck. As described by Mr. Easterling, “when he turned the corner, he began screeching the tires and doing the same thing all over again...after I began to go forward again is when he...let off the brake and hit the rear of my vehicle.” (R. p. 461, lines 39:22-24 and 40:11-13, Easterling Deposition 39:22-24; 40:11-13). “The second one [collision] was a hard hit. At that point, it became obvious that he was using his vehicle as a weapon.” (R. p. 461, lines 40:20-22, Easterling Deposition 40:20-22).

As Mr. Easterling approached the drive-thru window, “the people inside Burger King were looking out the window to see what was going on.” (R. p. 462, lines 42:11-12, Easterling Deposition 42:11-12). It is undisputed that employees of Burger King were also made aware of the altercation. Specifically the supervising manager, Kimberly Jones, testified that “the guy [Eastwood] right behind him [Mr. Easterling] was, like, blowing his horn. I mean, just acting out of character. I was like, Oh, Lord, got another drunk one tonight.” (R. p. 486, lines 45:13-17, Jones Deposition 45:13-17). Not only did the supervising manager know that an altercation had ensued, she also recognized the need to deescalate the situation. She testified that before “Thomas [Plaintiff-Appellant] get to my window, it had already been going on. I was like, man, I have to hurry up and get this man out of the line. Once Thomas get to the window, it get worser...” (R. p. 489, lines 55:13-17, Jones Deposition 55:13-17). Burger King manager Jones further testified that when Mr. Easterling “got to my window... the guy behind him was already blowing the horn, yelling out the window.” (R. p. 487, lines 48:21-33, Jones Deposition 48:21-23).

According to manager Jones, the altercation in the drive-thru lane lasted for upwards of “15 to 20 minutes.” (R. p. 492, lines 66:18-22, Jones Deposition 66:18-22).

Despite Ms. Jones’s actual knowledge of the escalating assault, no one from Burger King contacted law enforcement or attempted to intervene.

A. “The guy behind him hits his car.”

Q. “Did he [Eastwood] hit the car right in front of the drive-thru window?”

A. “Correct.”

Q. “So at that point, did anybody at Burger King call the police?”

A. “No.”

(R. p. 489, lines 57:1, 13, 15, 16, and 23-25, Jones Deposition 57:1, 13, 15, 16, 23-25).

Once able, Mr. Easterling pulled forward and exited his vehicle to assess the amount of damage sustained. While assessing the damage, Eastwood exited his vehicle and attacked Mr. Easterling. “He came at me in way that I knew no good was going to come from what was going on. He came at me aggressively.” (R. p. 486, lines 45:2-4, Easterling Deposition 45:2-4). “As he was coming at me, he started to take his shirt off...I put my hands up.” (R. p. 486, lines 45:22-25, Easterling Deposition 45:22-25). “He lunged at me and put his shoulder here in my stomach and grabbed me around the waist...I hit the curb and tripped and fell backwards down the embankment.” (R. p. 487, lines 46:13-19, Easterling Deposition 46:13-19).

During the course of this encounter, Mr. Easterling hit his head and was knocked unconscious. Once Mr. Easterling gained consciousness he found Eastwood was on top him. Thereafter, Eastwood gained control of Mr. Easterling’s arms, pinning him down and then proceeded **to bite his nose off**. “I’m assuming that I must have hit my head when I

hit the ground, because when I came to, he was on my face, biting.” (R. p. 463, lines 48:12-15, Easterling Deposition 48:12-15). After witnessing the commotion that led to this brutal attack occur for **“15 to 20 minutes”** Burger King Manger finally made the determination to contact law enforcement. “He walked to Thomas, he hit him, they went tussling; he grabbed his face or whatever he did to him; they went down in the ditch. When he get out of that ditch, he just had blood all over him. That’s—I say, you all call the police.” (R. p. 490, lines 58:24-25 and 59:1-3, Jones Deposition 58:24-25; 59:1-3) (emphasis added). According to manager Jones a police officer at a nearby establishment arrived on the scene “less than a minute” after the call was placed. (R. p. 492, lines 69:20-25, Jones Deposition 68:20-25). Incredibly, when asked, how long the commotion leading up to the altercation between Plaintiff and Eastwood lasted from when law enforcement was contacted, manager Jones testified **“maybe 15, 20 minutes for all of that to happen”**. (R. p. 492, lines 66:10-12 and 66:15-18, Jones Deposition 66:10-12, 15-18) (emphasis added).

Mr. Easterling’s nose was recovered on the premises and was later reattached through surgical intervention. Mr. Easterling has undergone three surgeries and requires additional surgeries to help correct visible deformities caused by the attack at the Burger King restaurant.

ARGUMENT

In this instant appeal, Plaintiff-Appellant does not have the benefit of knowing the basis of the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment, because the circuit court failed to rule on any of the arguments presented by the parties, and, instead, issued three (3) Form 4 orders containing no analysis whatsoever. As such, the Plaintiff-Appellant addresses

all arguments he presented to the lower court regarding why the circuit court should have denied Defendant's motion for summary judgment or granted Plaintiff's Rule 59 motion.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING BURGER KING'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE DEFENDANTS HAD NOTICE AND CREATED AN UNREASONABLE DANGEROUS CONDITION ON ITS PREMISES.

The standard of review of an order granting summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRPC, is well-established:

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law... In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. ...If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.

Pye v. Estate Of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 557, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006). As will be seen, applying this standard, Burger King was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, because there are genuine issues as to material facts, and Burger King owed a duty of care to Mr. Easterling.

A. BURGER KING HAD ACTUAL NOTICE AND OWED PLAINTIFF-INVITEE A LEGAL DUTY TO PROTECT AGAINST FORESEEABLE HARM

An affirmative legal duty may be created by statute, a contractual relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance. Jensen v. Anderson County Dept. of Soc. Servs., 304 S.C. 195, 199, 403 S.E.2d 615, 617 (1991). An invitee is a person who enters the premises of another at the express or implied invitation of the owner or

possessor.¹ An invitee may best be understood as a business visitor² or one who enters the premises on a matter of mutual interest or advantage.³

Generally, a person owes an invitee the duty of exercising reasonable or ordinary care for his safety and is liable for any injury resulting from the breach of this duty. Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc., 542 S.E.2d 728 S.C. (2001). “Perhaps a clearer description of a business owner's duty, then, is that a business owner has a duty to take reasonable action to protect its invitees against the foreseeable risk of physical harm.” Bass v. Gopal, Inc., 395 S.C. 129, 135, 716 S.E.2d 910, 913 (2011).

Moreover, the duty owed by an owner or possessor of land extends to warning or protecting an invitee against the criminal acts of third persons, if the owner or possessor knows or has reason to know that the acts are occurring or are about to occur.⁴ Liability may be predicated upon the possessor's failure to exercise reasonable care to discover that such criminal acts are likely to occur.⁵

Plaintiff was clearly an invitee as defined under South Carolina law; he entered Burger King, a public establishment, for the purposes of purchasing dinner. As such, Burger King owed Mr. Easterling the duty of exercising reasonable care for his safety, and the Burger King Defendants are liable for the injury resulting from their breach of this duty.

¹ Parker v. Stevenson Oil Co., 245 S. C. 275, 140 S. E. 2d 177 (1965).

² Rikard v. J. C. Penney Co., 233 F. Supp. 133 (D. S. C. 1964).

³ Crocker v. Barr, 303 S. C. 1, 397 S. E. 2d 665 (Ct. App. 1990), rev'd on other grounds, 305 S. C. 406, 409 S. E. 2d 368 (1991).

⁴ Shipes v. Piggly Wiggly, St. Andrews, Inc., 269 S. C. 479, 238 S. E. 2d 167 (1977); Munn v. Hardee's Food Systems, Inc., 274 S. C. 529, 266 S. E. 2d 414 (1980); Bullard v. Ehrhardt, 283 S. C. 557, 324 S. E. 2d 61 (1984); Restatement Second, Torts § 344 (1986).

⁵ Shipes v. Piggly Wiggly, St. Andrews, Inc., 269 S. C. 479, 238 S. E. 2d 167 (1977).

In Shipes v. Piggly Wiggly St. Andrews, Inc., 269 S.C. 479, 238 S.E.2d 167 (1977) the Court quoted with approval from the Restatement of Torts: “Since the possessor is not an insurer of the visitor's safety, he is ordinarily under no duty to exercise any care *until he knows or has reason to know that the acts of the third person are occurring, or are about to occur.* Jeffords v. Lesesne, 343 S.C. 656, 662, 541 S.E.2d 847, 850 (Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added). It is undisputed that Burger King’s manager had actual knowledge of the altercation prior to the Plaintiff sustaining the egregious injury of having his nose bitten off. (R. p. 492, lines 66:18-23, Jones Deposition 66:18-23). Specifically, Burger King manager Jones witnessed the commotion that included the attacker spinning his truck’s tires and yelling, starting “15 to 20 minutes” prior to calling the police. (R. p. 492, lines 66:18-22, Jones Deposition 66:18-22). As such, it is without question that Burger King knew or had reason to know that the acts of the third person were occurring or were about to occur.

Moreover, Plaintiff’s security expert, Dr. George Kirkham, testified that the Burger King supervising manager “reasonably should have known, and should have been trained in such a way that she reasonably recognized that the situations she described posed an imminent risk to—potential imminent risk—to invitees who were at the facility.” (R. p. 529, lines 127:24-25 and 128:1-3, Kirkham Deposition 127:24-25; 128:1-3). The assault was “foreseeable, obviously not that this man was going to have his nose chewed off in this event but...it was foreseeable that an incident could well occur, could foreseeably occur, where someone would get hurt.” (R. p. 530, lines 130:6-7 and 130:14-16, Kirkham Deposition 130:6-7, 14-16). “Harm, in this case, was reasonably foreseeable, though the exotic form that it took of biting off someone’s nose, it could have been any number of

other forms of harm, all of which were...some form of physical harm to an invitee.” (R. p. 534, lines 146:16-20, Kirkham Deposition 146:16-20).

Plaintiff has provided admissible summary judgment evidence that Burger King’s supervising manager witnessed the attack occurring for a lengthy period of time and, nonetheless, consciously chose to allow the assault to ensue instead of contacting law enforcement or attempting to intervene.

Moreover, the instant case is distinguishable from cases in South Carolina that have found no notice of foreseeable harm on a merchant’s premises and, thus, no duty. In Callen, the Court supported the defendant’s argument that the defendants did not have notice when the plaintiffs were *spontaneously* attacked by assailants in the drive-thru at a Hardee’s restaurant, and “Callen, [plaintiff] admits the incident and fight happened very suddenly, without any warning,” and it wasn’t until “*after learning of the fight*, employees of Hardee’s called the police and reported the incident.” Callen v. Cale Yarborough Enterprises, 314 S.C. 204, 205, 442 S.E.2d 216, (S.C. Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis added).

In Bullard v. Ehrhardt, 324 S.E.2d 61 (S.C. 1984), the bar asked the future assailant to leave after displaying signs of having too much to drink. The assailant later returned to the bar and, within seconds, threw a beer bottle that hit and injured the plaintiff. The Court found the bar “had no forewarning Billy [the patron] would throw the bottle. It happened *spontaneously* leaving no time for her [the bartender] to try to prevent something she had no knowledge or reason to know would happen.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In Munn, the Court ruled in favor of the Defendant [restaurant] because the group involved in the altercation “met under circumstances of a *spontaneous* nature...outside of the building and not in the presence of employees of the appellant.” Munn v. Hardee’s

Food Systems, Inc., 274 S.C. 529, 531, 266 S.E.2d 414, 415 (1980) (emphasis added). In Miletic, the Court ruled that Wal-Mart (the Defendant) did not have “a duty under South Carolina law to protect her [Plaintiff] from an attack like the one she suffered...no incidents occurred on that particular night to put Wal-Mart on notice...” Miletic v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 333 S.C. 529 S.E.2d 68 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000).

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