ORIGINAL

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case Number: 2014-000338

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Case Number 2011-CP-10-4348

RECEIVED

DEC 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Thomas Easterling.....Appellant,

v.

Burger King Corporation and Capital Restaurant Group, LLC.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

CLAWSON AND STAUBES, LLC
John L. McDonald (#12019)
Christy R. Fagnoli (#77528)
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492-8144
(843) 577-2026 telephone
(843) 722-2867 facsimile

Attorneys for Respondents, Burger King

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

By way of another example, in Miletic v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 529 S.E.2d 68 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000), the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment for Wal-Mart when it was sued by a customer who was attacked by a third party in the parking lot. In affirming summary judgment, the Court noted that the plaintiff testified that "the attack occurred so quickly that even she had no warning the men were about to attack her." Id. at 332. The Court stated that Wal-Mart "simply had no notice" and, thus, had no duty to protect the plaintiff. Id. at 333. That is the very situation in this case. As noted previously, Plaintiff concedes that the attack was "totally unexpected," occurred "quickly," and that he "had no idea what [Eastwood] was going to do" when he

got out of his car. Prior to the physical assault, neither Plaintiff nor Burger King ever heard any threats of physical assault from Eastwood or anyone else. (R. at 471, p. 80:1-3). Thus, just as in Millitec, the “the attack occurred so quickly that even [Plaintiff] had no warning [Eastwood was] about to attack [him].” If the attack was not foreseeable to Plaintiff, it certainly was not foreseeable to Burger King.

Additionally, in Bullard v. Ehrhardt, 324 S.E.2d 61 (S.C. 1984), the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment for a bar when it was sued by a customer who was hit by a beer bottle. In Bullard, a customer was asked to leave the bar because he was too intoxicated. Id. at 61-62. The customer returned within seconds and threw a beer bottle that struck a customer in the eye. Id. The Supreme Court held that the bar was not responsible because the bar “had no forewarning [the assailant] would throw the bottle.” Id. at 62. The Court further noted, “It happened spontaneously leaving no time for her to try to prevent something she had no knowledge or reason to know would happen.” Id. The Bullard decision is analogous to the case at hand, as Burger King had no knowledge or reason to know Eastwood would physically assault Plaintiff. Just as throwing the customer out of the bar was not sufficient to create foreseeability in Bullard, a customer blowing his horn and yelling in his car was not sufficient to create foreseeability in this case. Both Bullard and this case involve instantaneous acts by third parties which could not have been reasonably anticipated and which left no time to react to prevent them.

Likewise, in Munn v. Hardee’s Food Sys., 266 S.E.2d 414 (S.C. 1980), the Supreme Court held that Hardee’s restaurant was entitled to judgment as a matter of law in a case involving a criminal attack. In Munn, the plaintiff was fatally injured when

he was stabbed in the Hardee's parking lot. Id. at 414. In finding in favor of the restaurant, the Court noted that the plaintiff and assailant "met under circumstances of a spontaneous nature" and that the incident was "momentary and impulsive." Id. at 415. The restaurant owed no duty to the plaintiff because the incident happened "spontaneously leaving no time for [Hardee's] to prevent something [it] had no knowledge or reason to know would happen." Id.; Bullard, 324 S.E.2d at 61 (citing Munn, 266 S.E.2d 414). Thus, just as in this case, the only connection between the Munn incident and the restaurant was that the attack happened to occur on the restaurant's premises. This is not sufficient to create a legal duty on the part of the restaurant.

Therefore, summary judgment should be affirmed because Burger King owed no legal duty to Plaintiff. Callen, Miletic, Bullard, and Munn demonstrate that the attack was not legally foreseeable by Burger King. As set forth in detail above, Burger King saw nothing more than several minutes of a patron blowing his horn and yelling prior to the attack. Burger King witnessed no criminal acts, threats of criminal acts, or any otherwise unusual or threatening behavior prior to the abrupt, unanticipated assault. This unprecedented attack was not foreseeable to either Plaintiff or Burger King. It was clearly the result of an unstable, unpredictable person who thought he was in a "war" and later showed no remorse. No one could have predicted that this unfortunate incident would occur. Just as in Callen, once Plaintiff and Eastwood exited their vehicles, the attack occurred suddenly and without warning, leaving no time for Burger King to react in a way that would have prevented the attack. Thus, the Court should follow the precedent set forth in the above-cited cases and affirm summary judgment.

B. Burger King Owed No Duty to Plaintiff Because Eastwood's Attack Was Not Foreseeable, as Burger King Is Not a Business That Attracts Crime, Is Not Located in a Dangerous Area, and Did Not Have Notice of Relevant Prior Crimes.

The Court should affirm the trial court's Order granting summary judgment because Burger King is not a business that attracts crime, is not located in a dangerous area, and did not have notice of similar prior incidents.

The subject Burger King is not located in a high-crime area. In support of his contention that Burger King was on notice of relevant prior incidents, Plaintiff first points to a crime grid concerning the half mile radius surrounding the Burger King location. The grid apparently sets forth a tally of crimes in the area from 2002-2012. However, Plaintiff's own expert testified the grid cannot be relied upon because he has not studied the area statistics as compared with other parts of Charleston County. (R. at 526, p. 113:1-115:17). The expert further stated that the statistics in the grid are "off-subject" because it is too "onerous" and "burdensome" to expect a business owner to be aware of everything going on in the area. (R. at 511, p. 53:2-13; R. at 526, p. 113:1-115:17). According to Plaintiff's own expert, the statistics in the grid in this case are an "aside" and are not relevant to the analysis of whether the incident at issue was legally foreseeable by Burger King because the focus should be on the Burger King location itself (R. at 511, p. 53:2-13; R. at 526, p. 113:1-115:17). Additionally, even if the Court believes that the statistics in the grid could be relevant in some way, Plaintiff's expert concedes that there is no evidence in the record that shows that the area surrounding this Burger King is any more dangerous than other portions of Charleston County, the State of South Carolina, or anywhere else. (R. at 511, p. 53:2-13; R. at 526, p. 113:1-115:17). Therefore, Plaintiff's assertion that the attack was foreseeable because of

crimes in the surrounding area is not supported by the evidence in the record or the testimony of his own expert.

Additionally, Burger King is not the type of business whose mode of operation is to attract or provide a climate for crime. Burger King is simply a fast food restaurant. This issue was addressed by the Court of Appeals in Callen v. Cale Yarborough Enters., 442 S.E.2d 216 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994). In affirming summary judgment for a fast food establishment in a case involving an assault in the drive-thru, the Callen Court held, "Hardee's is a fast food restaurant which serves no alcohol. It certainly does not fit the description of an operation which attracts or provides a climate for crime." 442 S.E.2d at 218. Burger King is a fast food establishment which is undoubtedly very similar to Hardee's. Thus, under Callen, as a matter of law, Burger King is not the type of business that attracts or provides a climate for crime. As a result, Plaintiff cannot establish foreseeability in this manner.

Likewise, Plaintiff is unable to establish foreseeability on the basis of prior criminal incidents at the subject Burger King. Deputy Muirhead testified that he never responded to any violent crimes or felonies at this Burger King. (R. at 540, p. 14:2-16; R. at 542, p. 22:8-20). Likewise, at his deposition, Plaintiff's expert testified that he was not aware of any assaults or similar crimes in this specific drive-thru. (R. at 525, p. 111:10-112:1). He testified that he reviewed documents and incident reports from local law enforcement, none of which revealed any similar incidents. (R. at 525, p. 111:10-112:1; R. at 535, p. 152:9-20). Yet, in his Brief, Plaintiff attempts to demonstrate foreseeability by pointing to one armed robbery in the Burger King drive-thru. However, Plaintiff fails to mention that the armed robbery occurred in 2004 – approximately 4

years prior to the incident at issue in this case. (R. at 157). One incident in the drive-thru that occurred in 2004 cannot reasonably establish foreseeability for this particular incident. Indeed, crimes unfortunately occur at many businesses at one time or another and it is unreasonable to expect that a single event several years prior should even arguably put that business on “notice” so as to create a legal duty. Other prior incidents at the subject Burger King include car accidents, petit larceny, forgery, property damage, minor disturbances, and the like – none of which are violent crimes and none of which are similar to this incident. (R. at 141-157). Thus, the record reveals that the 2004 armed robbery was the one and only prior incident at this Burger King that is even conceivably similar to the incident at issue. This is not sufficient to establish notice or foreseeability. See, e.g., Miletic, 529 S.E.2d 68 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000). In Miletic, in affirming summary judgment for Wal-Mart, the Court of Appeals noted that in the 2 years prior to the incident, the only crime involving Wal-Mart was larceny – no assaults or otherwise violent crimes. Id. at 70-71. That is the very situation in this case. In the 2 years prior to this incident, no assaults or violent crimes occurred at the subject Burger King. Therefore, the Court should affirm summary judgment because South Carolina case law and the record demonstrate that the subject Burger King is not a business that attracts crime, is not located in a dangerous area, and did not have notice of similar prior incidents.

Additionally, Plaintiff’s assertions that Burger King failed to institute “economically feasible security measures” is without basis. First, the issue of whether Burger King had such security measures in place is only addressed when and if Plaintiff first establishes that the crime was legally foreseeable. As discussed in detail above, the attack in this

case was not foreseeable. Furthermore, Plaintiff's expert failed to offer any opinion that extra security measures such as security guards, extra lighting, fences, security cameras, locks, or the like would have prevented this incident. In his Brief, Plaintiff asserts that Burger King should have hired an off duty police officer or security guard. However, Plaintiff's own expert disagrees with this position. (R. at 528, p. 122:6-124:15). Specifically, Dr. Kirkham testified, "[W]e don't have enough information right now to know who and how and when security or off-duty police should be deployed there. May not need any." (R. at 528, p. 122:6-124:15). The only opinion offered on this issue is that Burger King failed to properly train their employees as to how to handle situations such as this one. First, Manager Kimberly Jones testified that she went through manager training. (R. at 479-80, p. 14:1-19:20). This training included instruction to contact police in an emergency. (R. at 547-50, 698, 699). Moreover, the record establishes that Burger King handled this isolated, spontaneous, unforeseeable act appropriately. Burger King witnessed nothing more than several minutes of a patron honking his horn and yelling – acts which did not in any way indicate that a physical assault was about to occur. As soon as the "quick" and "totally unexpected" attack occurred, Burger King called the police. Regardless of Kimberly Jones' training and experience in such matters, she acted as quickly and as best as she could under these unusual circumstances. It is not reasonable to require an employee to call the police each and every time a patron blows his or her horn and/or yells while in the drive-thru. It is likewise unreasonable to expect law enforcement to respond to such calls. At the moment the incident escalated, Jones called the police. Therefore, summary judgment should be affirmed because Plaintiff has failed to offer any evidence that Burger King

should have expended additional resources on security measures or that Burger King's security measures were otherwise unreasonable. See Bass v. Gopal, 716 S.E.2d 910, 917 (S.C. 2011) (affirming summary judgment where appellant failed to provide "any evidence that the business's security measures were unreasonable given the risk of criminal activity on the property").

C. There Was No Dangerous Condition on Burger King's Premises at the Time of the Incident.

The embankment adjacent to the drive-thru lane was not a dangerous or hazardous condition. "A merchant owes customers only the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition." Legette v. Piggly Wiggly, Inc., 629 S.E.2d 375, 375 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting Milligan v. Winn-Dixie Raleigh, 254 S.E.2d 798, 799 (S.C. 1979). There is no admissible testimony in the record that the embankment created a dangerous condition. Plaintiff's expert is a criminologist with a background in law enforcement. (R. at 499-502, p. 6:5-17:22). His training and experience relates solely to crime prevention and investigation. (R. at 499-502, p. 6:5-17:22). Plaintiff has failed to retain an expert in engineering, architecture, or a similar field who is qualified to offer opinions as to building codes, industry standards, or other issues that pertain to whether the embankment was a dangerous condition. Additionally, the record lacks any evidence that the embankment violated any such codes or standards.

The crux of Plaintiff's argument on this issue appears to be that, once a vehicle enters the drive-thru, it cannot exit the drive-thru lane because of the embankment on the right. First, as noted above, there is no evidence that the design of the drive-thru violated an applicable code or standard or was otherwise improper from an engineering

or architectural standpoint. Many drive-thru lanes across the country are designed in this manner. Moreover, the criminal attack at issue occurred after Plaintiff had already received his food from the drive-thru window. Thus, at the time Plaintiff got out of his vehicle and was attacked, he was first in line in the drive-thru – meaning that he could have exited the drive-thru lane prior to the attack if he chose to do so. Once a vehicle is first in line, the embankment is no longer an issue and there is no impediment to leaving the drive-thru. (R. at 461, p. 40:9-16; R. at 462, p. 42:5-19; R. at 462-63, p. 44:20-46:23; R. at 494, p. 76:4-10; R. at 495, p. 79:4-10). In other words, after being rear-ended by Eastwood, Plaintiff could have simply left the Burger King premises or pulled into the parking lot area of the Burger King. Thus, despite Plaintiff's assertions, at the time of the attack, Plaintiff was not prevented from leaving Burger King and was free to depart the premises. Accordingly, summary judgment should be affirmed because there was no dangerous condition on the premises which proximately caused the incident.

D. Plaintiff Failed to Properly Preserve for Appeal the Issue of Whether Burger King Deviated from Its Own Internal Policies and Procedures.

First and foremost, Plaintiff has failed to properly preserve this issue for appeal. "An appellate court will not consider issues on appeal which have not been preserved for appellate review." Ulmer v. Ulmer, 632 S.E.2d 858, 858 (S.C. 2006). "It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (S.C. 2000). Here, issues concerning whether Burger King failed to follow its own policies and procedures were never raised by Plaintiff at the summary judgment stage or in his Rule 59 Motion for Reconsideration.

Thus, the issue was not properly preserved on appeal because it was never raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.

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